RECEIVED

Jul 26 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Judge of the South Carolina Business Court

Appellate Case No. 2021-000767

C. Barry Dykes and Barbara Eisenhardt, Individually and Derivatively On Behalf Of The Wild Wing Plantation Property Owners' Association, Inc.,..... Appellants,

v.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in holding that the Appellants failed to offer evidence that the declarants breached their fiduciary obligations to the Association?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in ruling by summary judgment that the Plaintiffs'/Appellants' claims are barred by the business judgment rule?
- III. Did the Circuit Court err in ruling by summary judgment that the Appellants' claims are barred by South Carolina Non-Profit Statute?
- IV. Did the Circuit Court err in ruling by summary judgment that the Appellants' claims are barred by the Statute of Limitations?
- V. Did the Circuit Court err in granting summary judgment with respect to Appellants' claims under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, Sect 39-5-10, et seq., S.C Code of laws?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a derivative action brought by the Plaintiffs, Barry Dykes and Barbara Eisenhardt (now the Appellants), on behalf of the Wild Wing Plantation Owners' Association (the "Association"). Appellants commenced the action on June 30, 2017. The matter was referred to the South Carolina Business Court by Order dated April 1, 2020.

All parties filed motions for summary judgment which were heard on May 4, 2021 by the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., who denied all of Appellants' motions and granted all of the motions filed by the Respondents from the bench on May 4, 2021 at which time he requested that Respondents prepare orders. The written orders were signed on June 17, 2021 and July 12, 2021.

Appellants filed and served their Notice of Appeal on July 16, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal presents the Court with a number of startlingly clear, manifest errors by the Circuit Court, which resulted in a grave miscarriage of justice. As this Court will see, the Circuit Court decided the merits of this fact intensive case, which involves an accounting dispute spanning 14 years, expert witnesses, self-dealing by four Declarants, and numerous hand-selected members of different Boards of Directors, at summary judgment, without a trial or any live testimony from the witnesses. In doing so, as can be seen in its four orders, the Circuit Court failed - actually refused - to view the facts in the light most favorable to the Appellants and largely ignored evidence offered in support of their claims, not even bothering to mention much of that evidence in the orders.

Even though the Association offered clear evidence that it has been damaged in some amount between \$900,000 and \$2,500,000 (before the application of interest), which must be taken as true, the Circuit Court ruled that *it is completely without a remedy, as a matter of law*. The Circuit Court ruled that the Association has no right to sue the Declarants, *on any theory of law*, even though the Declarants kept the money that it owed to the Association and repeatedly acted in their own self-interest, directly at the expense of the Association. The Circuit Court also ruled that the Association has no right to sue *any* of the members of the Boards of Directors who facilitated and implemented the actions of the Declarants, *on any theory of law*.

All as a matter of law, without a trial or so much as a single live witness. The Circuit Court simply shut the doors of the courthouse in the faces of this aggrieved Association and all of its members.

Because the facts are complicated and involve numerous parties, below the Appellants provide information concerning the identities and roles of the various Respondents and then offer

a brief overview of the claims that have been brought. In addition, several charts and tables that were made available to the Circuit Court are referred to herein as record exhibits for ease of reference and brevity.

The Defendants/Respondents

As noted, the Defendants, who are the Respondents in this appeal, are comprised of three groups of entities and people. The first group consists of four different entities that had the rights of the “Declarant” under the Wild Wing Regime Documents which are described more fully below. The Declarants, and the dates they held the Declarant rights, are listed below:

Declarant	Date Range of Rights
Wild Wing Company, LLC	9/26/06-12/22/10
SLF IV/SBI Wild Wing, LLC	12/22/10-11/09/11
Wild Wind Residential Development, LLC	11/09/11-04/13/15
Founders Wild Wing, LLC	04/13/15-Present

The second group of Defendants/Respondents are individuals who served as members of the Board of Directors for the Association. They were all appointed to the Board of Directors by the Declarants, which have always controlled the Association and still do. The Defendants/Respondents who served as members of the Board of Directors, and the Declarants for whom they served, are listed below:

Defendant Board Members	Related Declarant
Ralph R. Teal, Jr. (Sunstar/Realstar/SB Investments) Gilford Edwards (Sunstar/Realstar)	Wild Wing Company, LLC

Ralph R. Teal, Jr. (Sunstar/Realstar/SB Investments) Graeme Black (Realstar) Gilford Edwards (Sunstar/Realstar)	SLF IV/SBI Wild Wing, LLC
Ralph R. Teal, Jr. (Sunstar/Realstar/SB Investments) Graeme Black (Realstar) Gilford Edwards (Sunstar/Realstar)	Wild Wind Residential Development, LLC
Rick Schultz Rick Taylor Tom Plankers	Founders Wild Wing, LLC

The third and final group of Defendants/Respondents are people and entities that were members of, or related to, the Declarants. Those Defendants/Respondents either controlled the actions of the Declarants and the members of the Board of Directors or participated in the siphoning of assets from the Declarants. To assist this Court, we attached a detailed chart of all the Defendants/Respondents and some of their relationships to our Memorandum in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment, (Exhibit C, R. pp. 1570-1571).

Summary of Claims

The evidence brought forth by the Appellants, which was largely ignored by the Circuit Court, establishes that during the relevant time period, from 2007 through 2019, all four Declarants (identified below) breached their fiduciary duties to the Association and its members in two respects. First, the Declarants failed to properly calculate the amount of money owed to the Association under their funding obligations to the Association as set forth in the Regime Documents (also discussed in detail below). That accounting error resulted in underfunding by Declarants in the principal amount of \$891,241 since 2007. *See Dykes 2020.09.24 Calculations “Accounting”* (Exhibit A, R. pp. 1566-1567) Second, the Declarants wrongfully amended the

Regime Documents twice, in 2011 and again in 2016, to postpone the deadline for the Declarants to pay regime fees and assessments on a per lot basis which would have required more funding by the Declarants. The amendments resulted in the Declarants' underfunding the Association in the additional amount of \$2,152,260. *See Dykes 2020.09.24 Calculations "Amendment"* (Exhibit B, R. pp. 1568-1569). Appellants are also claiming pre-judgment interest on those sums.

Because of that conduct, the Appellants have sued the Declarants as well as certain members of the Boards of Directors who served during the relevant time period. The Appellants have asserted claims for breach of fiduciary duty and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, Sect 39-5-10, *et. seq*, *S.C. Code of Laws* ("SCUTPA"). As to the members of the boards of directors, Appellants have proven that they were not only appointed by the Declarants but that they had direct financial interests in the Declarants or professional relationships with the Declarants which compelled them to put the interests of the Declarants ahead of the Association at every turn. The evidence compels a conclusion that the board of director defendants not only failed to safeguard the Association from the Declarants' underfunding, but actually facilitated the underfunding and the amendments, all at the sole expense of the Association and for the sole benefit of the Declarants. Respondents Rick Taylor, Thomas, Plankers, and Rick Shultz also failed to pursue reimbursement from the Declarants once the underfunding was identified by Appellants and brought to their attention.

Finally, Appellants have asserted amalgamation/single business enterprise claims against a third set of defendants who had *de facto* control of the first three Declarants, and consequently the Board of Directors, and who siphoned off the assets of those Declarants, leaving them insolvent and unable to respond to the claims of the Association.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), *SCRCP*.” *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121–22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). While the summary judgment standard of Rule 56, *SCRCP*, is well known, certain aspects of it bear repeating and were provided to the Circuit Court. “In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010). Further, “[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 331, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (S.Ct. 2009). Finally, “Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Baughman v. AT & T*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991).

ARGUMENTS

All that is required of the Appellants to warrant reversal of the Circuit Court is to demonstrate the factual and legal support for the claims they have brought. In doing so, Appellants are providing this Court with the supporting evidence and law largely as it was provided to the Circuit Court.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO OFFER EVIDENCE THAT THE DECLARANTS BREACHED THEIR FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS TO THE ASSOCIATION

The Circuit Court's manifest errors are numerous and derive principally from the Circuit Court's failure - actually refusal - to consider the substantial supporting evidence provided by the Appellants, much less consider it in the light most favorable to the Appellants. This stemmed, at least in part, from the Circuit Court's initial belief, consistently referenced in Judge Dennis' Orders, that the Appellants have not been harmed. That is simply not true, and it certainly is not true when the evidence provided is taken in the light most favorable to the Appellants.

A. *The "Math"*

The Circuit Court breaks down Appellants' claims and refers to the dispute concerning the calculation of the Declarants' funding obligation as the "Math." Regarding the Math, the testimony of Dykes and Appellants' Certified Public Accountant expert, Roy Strickland, is that from 2007 through 2019, because of the manner in which the Declarant's funding obligations were calculated, the Declarants underpaid the Association, the sum of \$891,241. *See* Dykes 2020.09.24 Calculations "Accounting" (Exhibit A, R. pp. 1566-1567). Below is the complete explanation of that claim provided to the Circuit Court. As discussed below, the Declarants' funding obligation is set forth in the Regime Documents, drafted by the Declarants, in what the Appellants believe is clear and unambiguous language. Respondents deny this making it a central issue in the case. To resolve that issue, the Circuit Court was required to take the testimony of the witnesses and then apply the clear and unambiguous language of the funding obligation. As this Court will see below, the Circuit Court did not do this, electing instead to modify the language of the Regime Documents and create its own standard for the funding obligation of the Declarants. This was a central error by the Circuit Court.

1. *The Rights of the Declarants to Control the Wild Wing Association and the Declarant Funding Alternative:*

To explain this case correctly, Appellants first need to establish the Declarants' complete control of the Association. There are numerous governing documents including the Declaration of Protective Covenants, Restrictions, Easements, Charges and Liens which include the covenants and were originally recorded on or about September 27, 2006 (the "Regime Documents").

For ease of reference, the relevant portions of the Regime Documents are attached as Exhibit D, R. pp. 1572-1579. Included is the language of two amendments to the Regime Documents, in 2011 and 2016, which are also relevant to the issues in this case.

Since the inception of the Wild Wing development, the Declarants have maintained exclusive control of the Association through their control of the Board of Directors and controlling voting rights. The Regime Documents provided that the Declarants had the right to and did appoint *all* members of the Board of Directors of the Association. In addition, and critical to the arguments in this case, the Declarants had superior voting rights to the other property owners. *See* Regime Document Bylaws Article 2, Section 2 and Article 3; Section 5 (Exhibit D, R. pp. 1572-1579). Those voting rights give the Declarants, which has Class B rights, votes equal to twice the number of Class A votes (Class A rights belong to the non-declarant property owners), plus one. This provision gave the Declarants total control of any vote requiring 67% of the vote or less. Amending the Regime Documents requires a 67% vote. *See* Regime Document Bylaws Article VI, Section 6 (Exhibit D, R. pp. 1572-1579). Because of their total control of the Board of Directors and the fact that the Declarants could vote to pass any measure that Board of Directors put to a vote without a single non-declarant member vote, the Declarants at Wild Wing completely controlled the Association.

Finally, the Declarants all owned unsold lots at Wild Wing, with that number reducing over the years as lots were sold. Because the Declarants did not want to pay regime fees and

assessments on a per-lot basis on each of their lots, the Regime Documents grant the Declarant an alternative funding structure to help the Declarant reduce its financial exposure associated with the unsold lots it owns. Specifically, rather than paying Association assessments on a per lot basis, *until December 31, 2010*, the Declarant had the right to fund the Association based upon a formula. That formula, found at Article VI Section 2a on Exhibit D, R. pp. 1572-1579, provides that: “... ***the Declarant shall be assessed and pay to the Association, in lieu of an assessment thereof, a sum equal to the actual amount of actual operating expenditures incurred by the Association for that portion of the calendar year less an amount equal to the total assessments made by the Association against Owners of Lots other than those owned by the Declarant. The actual operating expenditures for this purpose shall also include any reserve for replacements or operating reserves.*** (The underlined language is the language directly at issue in this case). This option for the Declarant has been and will be referred to as the “Declarant Funding Alternative.”

The Declarant rights, including the right to appoint the entire Board of Directors, voting rights and the Declarant Funding Alternative, are extremely important and made the Wild Wing development more “marketable” for the Declarants. *See* Dep. Ralph R. Teal, Jr., Pg.32:10-33:4 (Exhibit E, R. pp. 1580-1597). The ability to control the Association with the Board of Directors and the Declarant vote is obvious, but the Declarant Funding Alternative significantly reduced the Declarant’s financial obligations to the Association as compared to what the Declarant would have owed had it been required to pay per lot assessments like the rest of the lot owners/members of the Association.

Here we pause to address another fundamental error of the Circuit Court. In all of its orders (R. pp. 0004-0009; R. pp. 0010-0025; R. pp. 0026-0040; and R. pp. 0041-0058), the Circuit Court makes the following statement:

Plaintiffs' case relies entirely upon blending the actions of the POA as actions of the Declarants. There exists no evidence or law to support this theory. The actions complained of by the Plaintiffs were actions of the POA. There exists no rule of law that an appointing Declarant is somehow vicariously liable for the actions of its appointee.

No citation of law is provided for that statement which is blatantly incorrect and flies in the face of *Walbeck* and other law in which this Court and others have discussed the concept of developer control over an association such as this one. Unlike the Circuit Court, the South Carolina appellate courts are mindful of the opportunity for conflicts of interest between a developer and the members of an association it controls. Inexplicably, Circuit Court simply chose not to concern itself with these essential facts as they impact the case.

In fact, this finding is in every Order the Circuit Court signed, even the Orders for the cases against the directors. What possible interest would the directors have in a court finding that the Declarant was not liable for their actions? If the directors were concerned about protecting the interests of the Association, and "Math" was wrong, as Dykes and Strickland have testified, then the directors would want the discrepancy cleared up so that the Association would have more funding. Here, the directors supported every effort the Declarants made to avoid that funding obligation, including the effort to legally isolate the Directors from their own mistakes. That direct conflict was lost on the Circuit Court.

2. *The First Three Declarant's Were Shell Entities*

From 2006 until 2016, the valuable Declarant rights discussed above were assigned from one to another of the four different Declarant entities. As mentioned above, the initial Declarant, Wild Wing Company, LLC, was owned by local businessmen through Sunstar, LLC, a development entity that did other development work in Horry County. The real estate crash in the late 2000s impeded the sale of lots at Wild Wing and ultimately the development loans that the initial developers were personally obligated to pay became due. To secure the funding they

needed, the developers entered a relationship with Stratford Land Fund IV, L.P. (“Stratford”) out of Texas. *See* Dep. Ralph R. Teal, Jr, 10:23 to 12:13 (Exhibit E, R. pp. 1580-1597). With Stratford’s money and participation, the developers were able to refinance the original development loans, and Stratford and its entities took a stake in the Wild Wing development.

As a part of the addition of Stratford, the initial Declarant, Wild Wing Company, LLC, assigned its assets to a new Declarant entity, which was owned and controlled by the original Myrtle Beach developers and their new partner, Stratford. *See* Dep. Ralph Teal Jr. at Pg. 13:13-14:9 (Exhibit E, R. pp. 1580-1597). That single purpose entity was called SLF IV/SBI Wild Wing, LLC. *See* Assignment (Exhibit F, R. pp. 1598-1606) which became the second Declarant. The members of that entity were Stratford Land Fund IV, L.P. (SLF) and SB Investments LLC. *See* Dep. Ralph Teal Jr. at Pg. 17:15-18:6 (Exhibit F, R. pp. 1598-1606). There is no evidence that Wild Wing Company, LLC received any consideration for that assignment.

A few months later the developers decided to complete another assignment, effectively changing the name of the Declarant to Wild Wing Residential Development, LLC, and that entity became the third entity to possess the Declarant rights. *See* Assignment (Exhibit G, R. pp. 1607-1611). The sole member of Wild Wing Residential Development, LLC was Wild Wing Residential Development, LLC which was managed by SLF IV/SBI Properties, LLC. The sole managing member of SLF IV/SBI Properties, LLC was managed by Ralph Teal and Jeff Turner. Furthermore, there is no evidence that the second Declarant, SLF IV/SBI Wild Wing, LLC, received any consideration for the conveyance of its only assets, and it has been admitted that SLF IV/SBI Wild Wing, LLC and Wild Wing Residential Development, LLC were actually joint venturers. *See* Answer of Stratford Land Manager, L.P. d/b/a Stratford Land (R. pp. 0141-0155).

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