RECEIVED

Jul 26 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Judge of the South Carolina Business Court
Case No.: 2017-CP-26-04187

Appellate Case No. 2021-000767

C. Barry Dykes and Barbara Eisenhardt, Individually and Derivatively on Behalf of the Wild Wing
Plantation Property Owners' Association, Inc.,

Appellants,

v.

Wild Wing Company, LLC; Sunstar, LLC; Ralph R. Teal, Jr.; SLF IV/SBI Wild Wing, LLC; SLF
IV/SBI JV, LLC; SLF, IV/SBI Properties MM, LLC; SLF IV/SBI Development Holdings, LLC;

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

various individuals—their property manager, accountant, or lawyer—with particular professional competence and expertise. Accordingly, as a matter of law, the Individual Respondents discharged their duties in good faith and the circuit court appropriately granted summary judgment. Because the circuit court’s decision was based on undisputed evidence, this Court should affirm.

IV. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s decision because Appellants did not assert claims against the Individual Respondents within the applicable statute of repose and after Appellants knew or should have known they had a claim.²

Appellants argue the circuit court erred in finding their claims were barred by the statute of limitations because (1) the statute of limitations was tolled while the Declarants controlled the Association, and (2) the circuit court did not correctly analyze the application of the discovery rule. **App. Br. at 34.** This court should affirm the circuit court because the statute of limitations should not be equitably tolled and the circuit court correctly applied the discovery rule.

A. The statute of repose and limitations should not be equitably tolled because Appellants did not preserve that argument and, even if they did, the requirements for equitable tolling are not met.

Preservation

As a threshold matter, Appellants failed to preserve this issue for appeal. In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the appellant must have raised it to the circuit court. *Lucas v. Rawl Family Ltd. P’ship*, 359 S.C. 505, 598 S.E.2d 712 (2004). The party need not use the exact name of the legal doctrine, but it must be clear the argument was presented on that ground. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 697 S.E.2d 593 (2010). Furthermore, the circuit court must rule upon the issue. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). If the circuit court fails to rule on an issue it was presented, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in

² This issue and argument applies only to Respondents Teal, Black, and Edwards. Respondents Schultz, Taylor, and Plankers did not move for summary judgment on the statute of limitations.

order to preserve the issue for appellate review. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000).

Appellants did not preserve this argument for appeal because the circuit court did not rule on equitable tolling. In Appellants' memorandum in opposition to the Individual Respondent's motion for summary judgment, Appellants asserted the statute of limitations should be equitably tolled because the Association was controlled by the declarant. (**R. p. 1548**). On appeal, Appellants argue equitable tolling, but also use it as an opportunity to present a theory that was not presented to the circuit court at all: an adverse domination doctrine that results in a rebuttable presumption that the statute of limitations does not begin to run on an action against directors if the wrongdoers control the board. **App. Br. at 31**. Appellants never argued the adverse domination doctrine to the circuit court and, accordingly, it is not preserved for appeal. As it relates to equitable tolling, the circuit court did not rule on the Appellants' argument. (**R. pp. 26-40; 41-58**). Because the Appellants did not argue the adverse domination doctrine before the circuit court, it is unquestionably not preserved for appeal. Because the circuit court did not rule on Appellants' equitable tolling argument, it was Appellants' responsibility to file a motion to alter or amend the judgment to preserve the issue. Appellants did not file a Rule 59(e), SCRC, motion to alter or amend. Because the circuit court did not rule on the equitable tolling issue, it is not preserved for review and this court should decline to consider it.

Merits

The statute of limitations should not be equitably tolled. "Tolling' refers to suspending or stopping the running of a statute of limitations; it is analogous to a clock stopping, then restarting." *Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 115, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009) (quoting 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 169 (2000)). The Court may invoke the doctrine of

equitable tolling to suspend the statute of limitations. *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32. “Equitable tolling . . . is typically available only if the claimant was prevented in some extraordinary way from exercising his or her rights, or, in other words, if the relevant facts present sufficiently rare and exceptional circumstances that would warrant application of the doctrine.” 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 153.

The party asserting the statute of limitations should be tolled bears the burden of establishing sufficient facts to justify its use. *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32. “[E]quitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use.” *Id.* 386 S.C. at 116, 687 S.E.2d at 33. The doctrine may be applied when it is justified under all the circumstances. *Id.* “Any inequitable circumstances preventing a party from initiating a timely lawsuit must be truly beyond the control of the plaintiff.” 51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 153.

Here, Appellants advocate for tolling the statute of limitations purely based on the identity of board members at various instances throughout the Association’s existence. Appellants cite *Magnolia North Property Owners’ Ass’n v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 348, 725 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 2012). Examining the particular exigencies of this case as it relates to the Individual Respondents, *Magnolia* is distinguishable. In *Magnolia*, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court’s decision to equitably toll the statute of limitations because the association’s board members consisted of the appellants’ officers until the Association was turned over to the members. *Id.* at 372, 725 S.E.2d at 125. *Magnolia* involved potential construction defect claims that the association had against a developer, a developer whose officers made up the association’s board. The court reasoned the construction defect claims were tolled because it could not envision an entity effectively suing itself.

Appellants' claims stand in stark contrast to those in *Magnolia* and the case is procedurally different. First, Appellants assert they are acting on behalf of the Association in a derivative fashion. Appellants could have brought a derivative suit regardless of whether the Board was controlled by employees of the declarants. Appellants claim the Association would not have sued the declarants because the declarants also controlled the Association. But Appellants have not offered any evidence showing they were prevented from bringing a derivative suit earlier, which is their burden. Additionally, this case does not involve construction defects. Instead, it involves the declarant funding alternative and claims against the Individual Respondents in their capacity as former board members. Thus, *Magnolia* is inapplicable and, in the event the issue is preserved, this Court should not toll the statute of limitations and should affirm the circuit court's ruling.

B. The undisputed evidence shows Appellants' claims are barred by the statute of repose and the statute of limitations because they knew or should have known through the exercise of reasonable diligence that they had claims more than two years before they filed suit.

Appellants argue the circuit court "failed to do the correct analysis to determine whether" the statute of limitations had run, and that the court should have taken Appellants' evidence as true, which would precluded application of the statute of limitations. **App. Br. at 34.** Appellants cite the wrong standard at summary judgment, and the circuit court ruled based on the undisputed evidence.

A two-year statute of limitations and three-year statute of repose applies to Appellants' claims against the Individual Respondents, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-830(f) which states, "An action against a director asserting the director's failure to act in compliance with this section and consequent liability must be commenced before the sooner of (i) three years after the failure complained of or (ii) two years after the harm complained of is, or reasonably should have been discovered." S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-830(f) reduces the three-year statute of limitations. *See*

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (1) and (5) (providing for a three-year statute of limitations for actions arising “upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied” and actions for “any injury. . . not arising on contract and not enumerated by law”).

Pursuant to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when the injured “person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535; *Walbeck v. I’On Co., LLC*, 426 S.C. 494, 519, 827 S.E.2d 348, 361 (Ct. App. 2019); *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363–64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996). The test is objective. *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 442 S.E.2d 169 (1994). The relevant inquiry is not what a party subjectively knew at specific points in time, but rather, at what point a party objectively had “enough information such that [they] should have acted promptly to determine whether a cause of action might exist against [Defendants] for the injuries claimed in this case.” *Ashley River Indus., Inc. v. Mobil Oil Corp.*, 135 F. Supp. 2d 733, 742 (D.S.C. 2000), *aff’d* 245 F.3d 849 (4th Cir. 2001). South Carolina’s statute of limitations requires “very little to start the clock.” *Roe v. Doe*, 28 F.3d 404, 407 (4th Cir.1994) (applying South Carolina law).

“A cause of action should have been discovered through exercise of reasonable diligence when the facts and circumstances would have put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right had been invaded or a claim against another party might exist.” *Maher v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 377, 500 S.E.2d 204, 207 (Ct. App. 1998).

“The statute is not delayed until the injured party seeks advice of counsel or develops a full-blown theory of recovery; instead, reasonable diligence requires a plaintiff to ‘act with some promptness.’” *Id.* (quoting *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exch., Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 303, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981)). Further, the fact an injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial. *Dean*, 321 S.C. at 364, 468 S.E.2d at 647. In other words, the discovery rule does

not “require absolute certainty [that] a cause of action exists before the statute of limitations begins to run.” *Bayle v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 126, 542 S.E.2d 736, 741 (Ct. App. 2001).

Appellants filed this case on June 30, 2017. Pursuant to the three year statute of repose under section 33-31-830(f), all claims based on the Individual Respondent’s actions occurring before June 30, 2014, are barred.

Appellants knew or should have known of the basis for their claims against these Individual Respondents prior to June 30, 2015, and, accordingly, the two year statute of limitations has run. The Individual Respondents to whom the statute of limitations applies—Teal, Black, and Edwards—were no longer Board members after April 13, 2015. Regarding Appellants’ knowledge, Appellant Eisenhardt has been a property owner in Wild Wing Plantation since 2007, and she was one of the three founding members of the Association’s finance committee in 2012. **(R. p. 528, lines 19-25); (R. p. 1002)**. Appellant Dykes has been a homeowner since 2013 and was appointed to the Association’s Finance Committee at the 2014 Annual Meeting. **(R. p. 507, lines 16-17)**. Association auditor Jim Corbett testified in his deposition that both Appellants were privy to the annual audits and were familiar with the manner in which the Declarant’s annual contribution was calculated. **(R. p. 361, lines 4-14)**. All Association members, including the Appellants, had access to the published audited financial statements each year, including the calculation of the declarant assessment exposure for those years. The audited financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2008 were published on July 6, 2009. The audited financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2009 were published on May 31, 2011. The audited financial statements for the years ending December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 were published on September 4, 2012. The audited financial statements for the years 2012 and 2013 were published on March 20, 2014. **(R. pp. 317-30)**. Each of these audited financial statements

included a clear explanation of how the auditor calculated the declarant contribution. Appellants knew how Declarant contributions were calculated well before June 30, 2014, but nevertheless did not file suit registering their objection to the same until 2017.

Furthermore, Appellant Eisenhardt was a homeowner at the time of the November 2011 vote to amend the Covenants to extend the declarancy period. Eisenhardt received written notice of the proposed amendment from Wright Management on November 9, 2011. A vote was held on this amendment on November 21, 2011, and the minutes reflect that Eisenhardt was present at this vote. **(R. p. 737, lines 11-18)**. The votes were unanimous in favor of amendment. Appellant Eisenhardt had sufficient information as early as November 2011 such that she knew or should have known of the basis of the claims against the Individual Respondents related to the 2011 vote to amend the Covenants. Despite knowing the purpose of the 2011 amendment and having an opportunity to vote on the adoption of the same, Eisenhardt waited until 2017, almost six years after the fact, to object.

Instead of focusing on an objective inquiry as to what information was available such that Appellants were on notice of a potential claim, Appellants ask this Court to engage in a highly specific four part inquiry that includes analyzing Rule 23, SCRCF. **App. Br. at 31-32**. This is not how the discovery rule is analyzed. Instead, just as the circuit court did, the focus is on whether the Appellants knew or should have known that a claim existed. The undisputed evidence shows, and the circuit court found, Appellants knew or should have known by virtue of their long-standing involvement with the Association, their access to the financial information, and notice of the declarant's funding alternative, that a claim existed more than three years before they filed suit. Appellants' claims are therefore barred by the statute of limitations and this court should affirm.

V. Appellants' Issue V is tailored to Stratford Land Manager and Stratford Land Fund and, accordingly, Individual Respondents do not need to address the Issue.

Appellants' arguments in section V of their brief relate to the circuit court's dismissal of Stratford Land Manager, LP, and Stratford Land Fund, IV, LP (collectively "Stratford"). **App. Br. at 34-39.** For purposes of clarity, Appellants list only five issues on appeal in their "Statement of the Issues." **App. Br. at 1.** Although Appellants' arguments as to Stratford are labeled as Issue V in the brief itself, this issue is not listed in the Statement of Issues and, instead, Appellants' Issue V relates to the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUTPA). **App. Br. at 1.** Individual Respondents address the SCUTPA claim below.

VI. This Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling dismissing Appellants' SCUTPA claim because Appellants are asserting the claim in a representative capacity and Appellants have not suffered an injury-in-fact.

Appellants argue the circuit court erred in dismissing their SCUTPA claim because the Association suffered an injury-in-fact and, although not entirely clear, because the claims are not in a representative capacity. **App. Br. at 40.**

First, Appellants cite no law in support of their arguments and, instead, rely on conclusory allegations that the circuit court erred. **App. Br. at 40.** Accordingly, the issue is abandoned on appeal. *See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) ("South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review."). Thus, this Court should decline to address the merits of Appellants' arguments the circuit court erred in dismissing their SCUTPA claim.

Overlooking abandonment, Appellants' arguments on appeal are without merit. Under SCUTPA,

- (a) Any person who suffers any ascertainable loss of money or property, real or personal, as a result of the use or employment by

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